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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

CHARLESTON
U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
Civil Action No. 2:25-¢v-00711
V.

COMPLAINT AND

WRIGHTWAY READY-MIX, LLC and JURY TRIAL DEMAND

WRIGHT CONCRETE &
CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Defendants.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an action under Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended
(“ADA”), and Title I of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 to correct unlawful employment practices and
to provide appropriate relief to Charging Party John Moore (“Moore”) and a class of aggrieved job
applicants who were adversely affected by such practices. As alleged with greater particularity
below, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC” or “the Commission”) al-
leges that Defendants Wrightway Ready-Mix, LLC and Wright Concrete & Construction, Inc.
(“Defendants”) subjected Moore to denial of hire on the basis of disability, an unlawful qualifica-
tion standard or other selection criterion that screens out or tends to screen out individuals with a
disability or a class of individuals with disabilities, an unlawful preemployment medical inquiry
as to whether he is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such disability,
and denial of hire because of information obtained from the unlawful preemployment medical
inquiry in violation of the ADA. The Commission further alleges that Defendants subjected a class

of job applicants to denial of hire on the basis of disability, an unlawful qualification standard or
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other selection criterion that screens out or tends to screen out individuals with a disability or a
class of individuals with disabilities, unlawful preemployment medical inquiries as to whether they
are individuals with disabilities or as to the nature or severity of such disabilities, and denial of
hire because of information obtained from the unlawful preemployment medical inquiries in vio-
lation of the ADA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

I. This Court has jurisdiction over this civil action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 451, 1331,
1337, 1343, and 1345. This action is authorized and instituted pursuant to Section 107(a) of the
ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12117(a), which incorporates by reference Section 706(f)(1) and (3) of Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII”), as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1) & (3), and
Section 102 of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. § 1981a.

2. Venue is proper in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia
under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3) and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the alleged unlawful employ-
ment practices were committed in the state of West Virginia (Mingo County) and within this judi-
cial district, as well as other locations.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission is the agency of the
United States of America charged with the administration, interpretation, and enforcement of Ti-
tle I of the ADA and is expressly authorized to bring this action under Section 107(a) of the ADA,
42 U.S.C. § 12117(a), which incorporates by reference Section 706(f)(1) and (3) of Title VII, 42
U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(1) & (3).

4. At all relevant times, Defendant Wrightway Ready-Mix, LLC (“Wrightway Ready-

Mix”), a Kentucky limited liability company, has continuously been doing business in the state of
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West Virginia (Mingo County), as well as other states, and has continuously employed at least 15
employees.

5. At all relevant times, Defendant Wright Concrete & Construction, Inc. (“Wright
Concrete”), a Kentucky corporation, has continuously been doing business in the state of West
Virginia (Mingo County), as well as other states, and has continuously employed at least 15 em-
ployees.

6. At all relevant times, Wrightway Ready-Mix has continuously been an employer
engaged in an industry affecting commerce within the meaning of Section 101(5) of the ADA, 42
U.S.C. § 12111(5), and Section 101(7) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12111(7), which incorporates by
reference Section 701(g) and (h) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(g) & (h).

7. At all relevant times, Wright Concrete has continuously been an employer engaged
in an industry affecting commerce within the meaning of Section 101(5) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 12111(5), and Section 101(7) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12111(7), which incorporates by refer-
ence Section 701(g) and (h) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(g) & (h).

8. At all relevant times, Wrightway Ready-Mix has continuously been a covered entity
within the meaning of Section 101(2) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12111(2).

0. At all relevant times, Wright Concrete has continuously been a covered entity
within the meaning of Section 101(2) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12111(2).

10. Throughout calendar years 2021 and 2022, Wrightway Ready-Mix continuously
employed more than 100 employees.

11. Throughout calendar years 2021 and 2022, Wright Concrete continuously em-

ployed more than 100 employees.
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12.  Defendants constitute a single “employer” within the meaning of Section 101(5) of
the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12111(5), and Section 101(7) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12111(7), which
incorporates by reference Section 701(g) and (h) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(g) & (h). In sup-
port of this averment, the Commission states the following:

a. At all relevant times, Wrightway Ready-Mix is and has been an affiliate or
subsidiary of Wright Concrete, and the companies have represented to the public that
Wrightway Ready-Mix is a “Division[]” of Wright Concrete.

b. Wright Concrete created and imposed Wrightway Ready-Mix’s policies and
practices concerning the ADA.

c. Wright Concrete created and imposed Wrightway Ready-Mix’s policies and
practices concerning employment of workers who use methadone, suboxone, and other
medications used as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction and other
substance-use disorders.

d. At all relevant times, Defendants have had common management, including
Shannon Wright and Kendall Wright.

e. At all relevant times, Defendants have had interrelated business operations.

f. At all relevant times, Defendants have publicly held themselves out to third
parties as “the Wright family of companies,” including in advertising materials such as a
common website and a common promotional brochure.

g. At all relevant times, Defendants have had centralized control of labor rela-
tions, including common employment policies and practices and human-resources person-

nel.
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h. At all relevant times, Wright Concrete has solicited employment applica-
tions for Wrightway Ready-Mix.
1. At all relevant times, Defendants have had common ownership, including
Shannon Wright and Kendall Wright.
J- At all relevant times, Defendants have had common financial control.
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE
13. More than 30 days prior to the institution of this lawsuit, Charging Party John

Moore filed a charge of discrimination with the Commission alleging that Wrightway Ready-Mix

had violated the ADA.
14. The Commission conducted an investigation of Moore’s charge of discrimination.
15. On September 10, 2024, the Commission issued to Defendants an administrative

Determination finding reasonable cause to believe that Defendants had violated the ADA with
respect to Moore by subjecting him to (a) denial of hire on the basis of disability; (b) an unlawful
qualification standard or other selection criterion that screens out or tends to screen out individuals
with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities; (c) an unlawful preemployment medical
inquiry as to whether he is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such
disability; and (d) denial of hire because of information obtained from the unlawful preemploy-
ment medical inquiry. The Commission’s administrative Determination also found reasonable
cause to believe that Defendants had violated the ADA with respect to a class of aggrieved job
applicants by subjecting them to (a) denial of hire on the basis of disability; (b) an unlawful qual-
ification standard or other selection criterion that screens out or tends to screen out individuals
with a disability or a class of individuals with disabilities; (c) unlawful preemployment medical

inquiries as to whether they are individuals with disabilities or as to the nature or severity of such
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disabilities; and (d) denial of hire because of information obtained from the unlawful preemploy-
ment medical inquiries. The Commission’s administrative Determination also invited Defendants
to join with the Commission in informal methods of conciliation to endeavor to eliminate Defend-
ants’ discriminatory employment practices and provide appropriate relief.

16. The Commission subsequently engaged in communications with Defendants to
provide Defendants an opportunity to remedy the discriminatory practices described in the admin-
istrative Determination by informing Defendants of the remedies sought by the Commission.

17. The Commission was unable to secure from Defendants a conciliation agreement
acceptable to the Commission.

18. On November 1, 2024, the Commission issued to Defendants a Notice of Failure
of Conciliation.

19.  All conditions precedent to the institution of this lawsuit have been fulfilled.

STATEMENT OF CLAIMS

20. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants have engaged in
unlawful employment practices at their office in Delbarton, West Virginia, in Mingo County, West
Virginia, in violation of Section 102(a), (b)(1), (b)(3)(A), (b)(6), (d)(1), and (d)(2)(A) of the ADA,
42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (b)(1), (b)(3)(A), (b)(6), (d)(1) & (d)(2)(A).

21. Moore is a qualified individual with a disability under Sections 3 and 101(8) of the
ADA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12102 & 12111(8). Since at least 2021 and 2022, Moore has had a physical
and mental impairment (opioid-use disorder) that substantially limits his major life activities, in-
cluding but not limited to neurological and brain functions.

22. Since at least 2021 and 2022, Moore has had a record of opioid-use disorder.
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23.  Defendants regarded Moore as having a disability in that Defendants subjected him
to adverse employment actions, as described below, because of his non-minor and non-transitory
physical and mental impairment.

24. At all relevant times, Moore was qualified to perform, with or without reasonable
accommodation, the essential functions of the job for which he applied at Defendants on or about
February 9, 2022.

25.  In 2021 and 2022, Wrightway Ready-Mix maintained a facility and operations in
or around Delbarton, West Virginia, in Mingo County, West Virginia.

26.  Inlate 2021, Moore learned that Wrightway Ready-Mix was hiring general labor-
ers.

27.  Inlate 2021 and January and February 2022, Wrightway Ready-Mix employed J.C.
Johnson (“Johnson”) as hiring manager.

28.  Inlate 2021 and January and February 2022, Moore spoke multiple times via phone
with Johnson about employment at Wrightway Ready-Mix.

29. During one of the phone conversations alleged in Paragraph 28, above, Johnson
advised Moore to come to Wrightway Ready-Mix to attend a preemployment interview for a po-
sition as a general laborer.

30. During one of the phone conversations alleged in Paragraph 28, above, Johnson
advised Moore to bring with him to the preemployment interview any medications that he was
taking so that he (Moore) could provide information about those medications when Wrightway
Ready-Mix performed a preemployment drug test.

31. On or about February 9, 2022, Moore went to Wrightway Ready-Mix in Delbarton,

West Virginia, to apply and interview for employment as a general laborer.
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32. On or about February 9, 2022, Moore and Johnson met inside Johnson’s office at
Wrightway Ready-Mix, and Johnson interviewed Moore for prospective employment.

33.  During the meeting alleged in Paragraph 32, above, Johnson asked Moore if he had
brought his medications with him, as Johnson had requested. Moore answered that he had done
so. Johnson asked Moore what medications he was taking. Moore answered that he was taking
methadone, to which Johnson directly replied to the effect that he (Johnson) did not need to see
the medication because he could not hire Moore due to company policy in effect since the 1990s.

34.  Atall relevant times, Wrightway Ready-Mix has implemented a policy of categor-
ically refusing to employ any workers who use methadone, suboxone, and other medications used
as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction and other substance-use disorders.
This is the policy to which Johnson referred in his interview of Moore on or about February 9,
2022.

35.  Moore then asked Johnson to speak with someone higher up, i.e., a superior. In
response, Johnson stated to the effect that a female human-resources official who conducted the
company’s drug screenings would not hire Moore.

36. In February 2022, Cheryl Tackett (“Tackett”) served as head of human resources
for Wrightway Ready-Mix.

37. On or about February 9, 2022, after the meeting alleged in Paragraph 32, above,
Moore met with Tackett in a hallway at Wrightway Ready-Mix. Upon learning that Moore used
methadone, Tackett told Moore to the effect that she could not hire him because of the company
policy of refusing to hire workers taking methadone, and when Moore responded by asking to

speak with someone higher up, i.e., a superior, Tackett told Moore that she was someone higher

up.
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38.  Johnson never asked Moore any questions about his (Moore’s) prescribed use of
methadone as a medical treatment, any side effects of his use of methadone, the medical circum-
stances necessitating his use of methadone, or any possible risk that his use of methadone might
present to his ability to safely perform the essential functions of a general laborer or any other
position at Wrightway Ready-Mix.

39. Tackett never asked Moore any questions about his prescribed use of methadone as
a medical treatment, any side effects of his use of methadone, the medical circumstances necessi-
tating his use of methadone, or any possible risk that his use of methadone might present to his
ability to safely perform the essential functions of a general laborer or any other position at Wright-
way Ready-Mix.

40.  No owner or employee of Wright Concrete or Wrightway Ready-Mix asked Moore
any questions about his prescribed use of methadone as a medical treatment, any side effects of
his use of methadone, the medical circumstances necessitating his use of methadone, or any pos-
sible risk that his use of methadone might present to his ability to safely perform the essential
functions of a general laborer or any other position at Wrightway Ready-Mix.

41. Johnson never communicated to Moore a conditional or permanent offer of em-
ployment at Wrightway Ready-Mix.

42. Tackett never communicated to Moore a conditional or permanent offer of employ-
ment at Wrightway Ready-Mix.

43. No owner or employee of Wright Concrete or Wrightway Ready-Mix communi-
cated to Moore a conditional or permanent offer of employment at Wright Concrete or Wrightway

Ready-Mix.
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44.  From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants have subjected a
class of presently unidentified aggrieved job applicants to unlawful employment practices on the
basis of disability, including but not limited to the following conduct:

a. Defendants have denied hire to job applicants on the basis of disability, in-
cluding opioid addiction and other substance-use disorders, the job applicants’ records of
opioid addiction and other substance-use disorders, and because Defendants regarded the
job applicants as having opioid addiction and other substance-use disorders.

b. Defendants have refused to employ workers who use methadone, suboxone,
and other medications used as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction
and other substance-use disorders.

c. Defendants have made inquiries to job applicants, without Defendants hav-
ing made conditional or permanent offers of employment, about their use of prescription
medications.

d. Defendants have denied hire to job applicants because of information ob-
tained from inquiries to the job applicants, without Defendants having made conditional or
permanent offers of employment, about their use of prescription medications.

CAUSES OF ACTION
Count I: Denial of Hire on the Basis of Disability in Violation of the ADA (John Moore)

45. The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.

46. Moore is a qualified individual with a disability under Sections 3 and 101(8) of the

ADA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12102 & 12111(8).

10
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47. On or about February 9, 2022, Moore applied and/or was otherwise considered by
Defendants as a candidate for a position of employment at Defendants as a general laborer and/or
other position.

48.  Moore was qualified to perform, with or without reasonable accommodation, the
essential functions of the job for which he applied at Defendants and/or for which Defendants
otherwise considered him a candidate for prospective employment on or about February 9, 2022.

49, On or about February 9, 2022, Defendants denied hire to Moore on the basis of his
disability (opioid-use disorder), his record of such disability, and because Defendants regarded
him as having a disability.

50. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 45 to 49, above, has been
to deprive Moore of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect his status as
a job applicant or other candidate for prospective employment on the basis of disability.

51. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

52. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to Moore’s federally protected rights.

Count II: Unlawful Qualification Standard in Violation of the ADA (John Moore)

53. The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.

54. Moore is a qualified individual with a disability under Sections 3 and 101(8) of the
ADA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12102 & 12111(8).

55. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants’ implementation of
their policy of intentionally refusing to employ workers who use methadone, suboxone, and other

medications used as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction and other substance-

11
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use disorders is a qualification standard or other selection criterion that screens out or tends
to screen out individuals with disabilities or a class of individuals with disabilities in violation
of Section 102(a), (b)(1), (b)(3)(A), and (b)(6) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (b)(1), (b)(3)
(A) & (b)(6).

56.  Moore was qualified to perform, with or without reasonable accommodation, the
essential functions of the job for which he applied at Defendants and/or for which Defendants
otherwise considered him a candidate for prospective employment on or about February 9, 2022.

57. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 53 to 56, above, has been
to deprive Moore of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect his status as
a job applicant or other candidate for prospective employment on the basis of disability.

58. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

59. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to Moore’s federally protected rights.

Count III: Unlawful Preemployment Disability-Related Inquiry
in Violation of the ADA (John Moore)

60.  The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.

61. Defendants’ question to Moore on or about February 9, 2022, about his use of meth-
adone as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction, when Defendants had not
made him a conditional or permanent offer of employment, was an inquiry of Moore as to whether
he is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such disability in violation of
Section 102(a), (d)(1), and (d)(2)(A) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (d)(1) & (d)(2)(A).

62. Defendants’ question to Moore on or about February 9, 2022, about his use of meth-

adone as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction, when Defendants had not

12
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made him a conditional or permanent offer of employment, was likely to elicit—and did, in fact,
elicit—from Moore information about a disability.

63. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 60 to 62, above, has been
to deprive Moore of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect his status as
a job applicant or other candidate for prospective employment.

64. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

65. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to Moore’s federally protected rights.

Count IV: Denial of Hire Because of Information Obtained from
Unlawful Preemployment Disability-Related Inquiry in Violation of the ADA (John Moore)

66. The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.

67.  Defendants’ question to Moore on or about February 9, 2022, about his use of meth-
adone as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction, when Defendants had not
made him a conditional or permanent offer of employment, was an inquiry of Moore as to whether
he is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or severity of such disability in violation of
Section 102(a), (b)(1), (d)(1), and (d)(2)(A) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (b)(1), (d)(1) &
(D2)(A).

68. Defendants’ question to Moore on or about February 9, 2022, about his use of meth-
adone as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction, when Defendants had not
made him a conditional or permanent offer of employment, was likely to elicit—and did, in fact,
elicit—from Moore information about a disability.

69. Defendants denied hire to Moore because of information that Defendants obtained

from the inquiry of Moore as to whether he is an individual with a disability or as to the nature or

13
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severity of such disability in violation of Section 102(a), (d)(1), and (d)(2)(A) of the ADA, 42
U.S.C. § 12112(a), (d)(1) & (d)(2)(A).

70. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 66 to 69, above, has been
to deprive Moore of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect his status as
a job applicant or other candidate for prospective employment.

71. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

72. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to Moore’s federally protected rights.

Count V: Denial of Hire on the Basis of Disability in Violation of the ADA (Class)

73. The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.
74. At all relevant times, the members of the class of aggrieved job applicants have

been qualified individuals with disabilities under Sections 3 and 101(8) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C.
§§ 12102 & 12111(8).

75. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, the members of the class of
aggrieved job applicants applied or were otherwise considered candidates for positions of employ-
ment at Defendants.

76. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, the members of the class of
aggrieved job applicants were qualified to perform, with or without reasonable accommodation,
the essential functions of the jobs for which they applied at Defendants or for which Defendants
otherwise considered them candidates.

77. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants have denied hire to

the members of the class of aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective

14
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employment on the basis of their disabilities (opioid addiction and other substance-use disorders),
their records of such disabilities, and because Defendants regarded them as having disabilities.

78. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 73 to 77, above, has been
to deprive a class of presently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for pro-
spective employment who use methadone, suboxone, and other medications used as part of medi-
cation-assisted treatment for opioid addiction and other substance-use disorders of equal employ-
ment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect their status as job applicants or other candidates
for prospective employment on the basis of disability.

79. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

80. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to the federally protected rights of a class of presently unidentified ag-
grieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment who use methadone, sub-
oxone, and other medications used as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction
and other substance-use disorders.

Count VI: Unlawful Qualification Standard in Violation of the ADA (Class)

81. The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.
82. The members of the class of aggrieved job applicants are qualified individuals with

disabilities under Sections 3 and 101(8) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12102 & 12111(8).

83. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants’ implementation of
their policy of intentionally refusing to employ workers who use methadone, suboxone, and other
medications used as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction and other substance-

use disorders is a qualification standard or other selection criterion that screens out or tends to

15
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screen out individuals with disabilities or a class of individuals with disabilities in violation of
Section 102(a), (b)(1), (b)(3)(A), and (b)(6) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (b)(1), (b)(3)(A)
& (b)(6).

84. The members of the class of aggrieved job applicants were qualified to perform,
with or without reasonable accommodation, the essential functions of the jobs for which they ap-
plied at Defendants and/or for which Defendants otherwise considered them candidates for pro-
spective employment.

85. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 81 to 84, above, has been
to deprive a class of presently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for pro-
spective employment of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect their sta-
tus as job applicants or other candidates for prospective employment on the basis of disability.

86. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

87. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to the federally protected rights of a class of presently unidentified ag-
grieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment who use methadone, sub-
oxone, and other medications used as part of medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction
and other substance-use disorders.

Count VII: Unlawful Preemployment Disability-Related Inquiries
in Violation of the ADA (Class)

88.  The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.
89.  From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants have made inquiries

to the members of the class of aggrieved job applicants, when Defendants had not made them

conditional or permanent offers of employment, as to whether the class members are individuals

16
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with disabilities or as to the nature or severity of such disabilities in violation of Section 102(a),
(d)(1), and (d)(2)(A) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (d)(1) & (d)(2)(A).

90.  From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants’ inquiries to the
members of the class of aggrieved job applicants, when Defendants had not made them conditional
or permanent offers of employment, were likely to elicit—and did, in fact, elicit—from the class
members information about disabilities.

91. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 88 to 90, above, has been
to deprive a class of presently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for pro-
spective employment of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect their sta-
tus as job applicants or other candidates for prospective employment.

92. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

93. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to the federally protected rights of a class of presently unidentified ag-
grieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment who were subjected to
those practices.

Count VIII: Denial of Hire Because of Information Obtained from
Unlawful Preemployment Disability-Related Inquiries in Violation of the ADA (Class)

94, The Commission incorporates by reference all allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1
to 44, above.
95. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants have made inquiries

to the members of the class of aggrieved job applicants, when Defendants had not made them
conditional or permanent offers of employment, as to whether the class members are individuals
with disabilities or as to the nature or severity of such disabilities in violation of Section 102(a),

(b)(1), (d)(1), and (d)(2)(A) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (b)(1), (d)(1) & (d)(2)(A).
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96.  From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants’ inquiries to the
members of the class of aggrieved job applicants, when Defendants had not made them conditional
or permanent offers of employment, were likely to elicit—and did, in fact, elicit—from the class
members information about disabilities.

97. From on or about February 8, 2022, to the present, Defendants denied hire to the
members of the class of aggrieved job applicants because of information that Defendants obtained
from the inquires of the class members as to whether the class members are individuals with disa-
bilities or as to the nature or severity of such disabilities in violation of Section 102(a), (d)(1), and
(d)(2)(A) of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a), (d)(1) & (d)(2)(A).

98. The effect of the practices complained of in Paragraphs 94 to 97, above, has been
to deprive a class of presently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for pro-
spective employment of equal employment opportunities and otherwise adversely affect their sta-
tus as job applicants or other candidates for prospective employment.

99. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were intentional.

100. The unlawful employment practices complained of above were done with malice
or reckless indifference to the federally protected rights of a class of presently unidentified ag-
grieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment who were subjected to
those practices.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court:

A. Grant a permanent injunction enjoining and restraining Defendants, their officers,
successors, assigns, and all persons in active concert or participation with them from engaging in

discrimination on the basis of disability, including denying hire to job applicants on the basis of
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actual disability, record of disability, or perceived disability; maintaining qualification standards
or other selection criteria that screen out or tend to screen out individuals with disabilities or a
class of individuals with disabilities; subjecting job applicants to inquiries, when Defendants have
not made them conditional or permanent offers of employment, as to whether the job applicants
are individuals with disabilities or as to the nature or severity of such disabilities; and denying hire
to job applicants because of information that Defendants obtained from inquiries, when Defend-
ants have not made them conditional or permanent offers of employment, as to whether the job
applicants are individuals with disabilities or as to the nature or severity of such disabilities.

B. Order Defendants to institute and carry out policies, practices, and programs that
provide equal employment opportunities for job applicants with and without disabilities, and which
eradicate the effects of their past and present unlawful employment practices.

C. Order Defendants to make whole Charging Party John Moore and a class of pres-
ently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment by
providing appropriate back pay with prejudgment interest, in amounts to be determined at trial,
and other affirmative relief necessary to eradicate the effects of their unlawful suspension, includ-
ing but not limited to instatement with retroactive seniority and benefits or front pay in lieu thereof.

D. Order Defendants to make whole Charging Party John Moore and a class of pres-
ently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment by
providing compensation for past and future pecuniary losses resulting from the unlawful employ-
ment practices described in Paragraphs 20 to 100, above, in amounts to be determined at trial.

E. Order Defendant to make whole Charging Party John Moore and a class of pres-
ently unidentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment by

providing compensation for past and future non-pecuniary losses resulting from the unlawful

19



Case 2:25-cv-00711 Document1l Filed 12/02/25 Page 20 of 22 PagelD #: 20

practices complained of in Paragraphs 20 to 100, above, including emotional pain, suffering, in-
convenience, mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of life, and other non-pecuniary losses, in amounts
to be determined at trial.

F. Order Defendant to pay Charging Party John Moore and a class of presently uni-
dentified aggrieved job applicants and other candidates for prospective employment punitive dam-
ages for the malicious and reckless conduct described in Paragraphs 20 to 100, above, in amounts

to be determined at trial.

G. Grant such further relief as the Court deems necessary and proper in the public
interest.
H. Award the Commission its costs of this action.
JURY TRIAL DEMAND

The Commission demands a jury trial on all questions of fact raised by its Complaint.
Respectfully submitted,

U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION
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WASHINGTON, D.C.
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